
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Planning Commission

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date: 3/27/2023 
Time: 7:00 p.m. 
Location: Zoom.us/join – ID# 862 5880 9056 and 

City Council Chambers 
751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 

How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers
• Access the meeting in-person at Belle Haven Branch Library, 413 Ivy St., where the meeting will

be shown live on a big screen using Zoom videoconference technology
• Access the meeting real-time online at:

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 862 5880 9056
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:

(669) 900-6833
Regular Meeting ID # 862 5880 9056
Press *9 to raise hand to speak

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time:
planning.commission@menlopark.gov*
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment.

*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may 
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on 
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar, 
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agendas). 

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas


Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
March 27, 2023 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Regular Meeting 
 
A. Call To Order 

 
B. Roll Call 

 
C. Reports and Announcements 

 
D.  Public Comment  

 Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three 
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The 
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes from the December 5, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

E2. Architectural Control/Alex G Ross/120 Constitution Drive: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control permit to modify the exterior of 
an existing building in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use District) zoning district; determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for 
existing facilities. The proposed changes include painting the street facing awning, removal of metal 
awnings and replacement with wood awnings, repainting the building, window changes and the 
addition of a new enclosed, uncovered patio. (Staff Report #23-022-PC) 

F.  Public Hearing 

F1. Use Permit/City of Menlo Park/100 Terminal Avenue:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to deny a use permit to exceed the maximum nighttime noise limit 
of 50 dBA, measured at residential property lines, to accommodate electric pool heating equipment 
for the Menlo Park Community Campus located at 100 Terminal Avenue. Continued from meeting 
of 2/2723. (Staff Report #23-023-PC)  

F2. Use Permit/Gary McClure/1145 Hidden Oaks Drive: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to add to and remodel an existing 
nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in the R-1-S (Single-Family Suburban 
Residential) zoning district; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small structures. The 
proposed work would exceed 75 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming 
structure in a 12-month period. (Staff Report #23-024-PC) 

F3. Architectural Control and Use Permits/Peninsula Innovation Partners, LLC/1350-1390 Willow Road, 
925-1098 Hamilton Avenue, and 1005-1275 Hamilton Court:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control review for buildings and publicly 
accessible open space site improvements associated with the approved Willow Village masterplan 



Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
March 27, 2023 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

development project. The masterplan, including the general plan amendment, rezoning and zoning 
map amendment, vesting tentative maps, conditional development permit, development agreement, 
and below market rate (BMR) housing agreements were approved by the City Council on December 
6 and 13, 2022 and authorize up to 1.6 million square feet of office and accessory uses (with a 
maximum of 1.25 million square feet for office uses and the balance for accessory uses), up to 1,730 
dwelling units (including 312 BMR units), up to 200,000 square feet of retail and restaurant uses, 
and an up to 193 room hotel. The architectural control reviews by the Planning Commission for 
conformance with the approved masterplan, entitlement documents, agreements, mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program from the environmental impact report, and the R-MU (residential 
mixed use) and O (Office) zoning districts is the next phase in the implementation of the Willow 
Village masterplan project. The requested actions are consistent with the environmental impact 
report prepared for the proposed project and certified by the City Council on December 6, 2022. 
Continued to a future meeting. 
 

G. Informational Items 

G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings 
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

• Regular Meeting: April 10, 2023 
• Regular Meeting: April 24, 2023 

 
H.  Adjournment  
  

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period where the public shall have 
the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public interest not listed on the agenda, members of the 
public have the right to directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item.  
 
At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either before or during 
consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.  
 
If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the City of 
Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing. 
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection with an agenda item is 
a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available by request by emailing the city 
clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or 
participating in Planning Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620.  
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the public can view electronic 
agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at menlopark.gov/agendas and can receive email notification of 
agenda postings by subscribing at menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by 
contacting City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 3/23/2023) 

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe


City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Planning Commission

REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date: 12/05/2022 
Time: 7:00 p.m. 
Location: Zoom.us/join – ID# 871 4022 8110 and 

City Council Chambers  
751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

A. Call To Order

Chair DeCardy called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

B. Roll Call

Present: Chris DeCardy (Chair), Linh Dan Do, Henry Riggs, Jennifer Schindler, Michele Tate 

Absent: Andrew Barnes, Cynthia Harris (Vice Chair) 

Staff: Christine Begin, Planning Technician; Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner; Hugh 
Louch, Assistant Public Works Director – Transportation; Matt Pruter, Associate 
Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner; Chris Turner, Associate 
Planner 

C. Reports and Announcements

Acting Principal Planner Sandmeier said the City Council at its December 6, 2022, meeting would
hear the Willow Village project.

D. Public Comment

None

E. Consent Calendar

E1. Approval of minutes from the September 12, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

E2. Approval of minutes from the September 19, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Do) to approve the Consent Calendar consisting of the minutes 
from the September 12 and 19, 2022 Planning Commission meetings; passes 3-0-2-2 with 
Commissioners Schindler and Tate abstaining and Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent. 

F. Public Hearing

F1.  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a variance and use permit revision to a previously 
approved use permit to construct a new two-story residence on a substandard lot with regard to 
minimum lot width and area in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district, at 6 
Greenwood Place; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 



Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
December 5, 2022 
Page 2 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. The proposed project consists of construction of a 
new covered patio, which would increase building coverage above the previously approved building 
coverage and would be an exterior modification. The project requires a variance to exceed the 
maximum building coverage. Continued from the November 7, 2022 regular meeting. (Staff 
Report #22-064-PC) 

Associate Planner Turner reported staff had no additions to the written staff report. 

Chair DeCardy opened and closed the public hearing as no persons requested to speak. 

The applicant did not choose to speak. 

ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Tate) to adopt a resolution approving a variance and use permit 
revision to a previously approved use permit to construct a new two-story residence on a 
substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width and area in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban 
Residential) zoning district, at 6 Greenwood Place and determine this action is categorically exempt 
under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities; passes 5-0-2 with 
Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent. 

F2.  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to construct a new attached accessory 
dwelling unit (ADU) with a front setback of one foot, six inches, where 20 feet is required, and a rear 
setback of three feet, where four feet is required in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) 
zoning district, at 598 Hamilton Avenue; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. (Staff Report #22-065-PC) 

Associate Planner Pruter reported staff had no additions to the written staff report. 

The applicants did not choose to speak. 

Chair DeCardy opened the public hearing. 

Public Comment:  

• Pam Jones, Menlo Park, expressed support of ADUs but concern with the project’s reduced front
setback request.

Chair DeCardy closed the public hearing. 

Commissioner Riggs confirmed that Attachment C for this item was for a different address. Staff 
suggested continuing the item to return at the next meeting with the corrected attachment. 

Commission discussion focused on a desire for ADUs conflicting with concerns about the request of 
the front setback at 18-inches.  

Commissioner Riggs moved to continue to the December 12 regular meeting to allow staff to 
prepare findings for denial. Motion died for lack of a second.  

ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Schindler) to continue the item with the following direction; 
passes 5-0-2 with Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent: 



Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
December 5, 2022 
Page 3 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• Revise the proposed accessory dwelling unit (ADU) location to show a front setback of at least
six feet, allowing for a potential front setback distance from the ADU to the edge of sidewalk of
12 feet.

F3.  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing single-story, single- 
family residence and construct a new two-story residence with an attached garage on a substandard 
lot with regard to minimum lot width and area in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning 
district, at 123 Dunsmuir Way; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction of small structures. The project includes an 
attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU) which is exempt from discretionary review.
(Staff Report #22-066-PC) 

Planner Turner said staff had no additions to the written report. 

Kyu Young Kim, ACS Architects, spoke on behalf of the project. 

Chair DeCardy opened and closed the public hearing as no persons requested to speak. 

ACTION: Motion and second (Schindler/Do) to adopt a resolution approving a use permit to 
demolish an existing single-story, single-family residence and construct a new two-story 
residence with an attached garage on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width 
and area in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district, at 123 Dunsmuir 
Way and determining that this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction of small structures; passes 5-0-2 
with Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent.  

F4. Consider and adopt a resolution recommending that the City Council adopt a resolution 
revising the use permit and architectural control approvals for the previously approved 
Menlo Uptown development project, which consists of 441 rental units and 42 for-sale 
condominium units and  approximately 2,940 square feet of commercial space (for the 
project’s community amenity) and is located at 141 Jefferson Drive, and 180-186 
Constitution Drive, to allow for the potential removal of infrastructure investments at Willow 
Road and Bay Road from the project conditions of approval. This action is consistent with 
the project-level EIR certified by the City Council on September 14, 2021.
(Staff Report #22-067-PC)

Assistant Public Works Director-Transportation Hugh Louch presented the item.  

Chair DeCardy opened and closed the public hearing as no persons requested to speak. 

ACTION: Motion and second (DeCardy/Do) adopt a resolution recommending that the City 
Council adopt a resolution revising the use permit and architectural control approvals for the 
previously approved Menlo Uptown development project, which consists of 441 rental units 
and 42 for-sale condominium units and  approximately 2,940 square feet of commercial 
space (for the project’s community amenity) and is located at 141 Jefferson Drive, and 180-
186 Constitution Drive, to allow for the potential removal of infrastructure investments at 



Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
December 5, 2022 
Page 4 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Willow Road and Bay Road from the project conditions of approval with the following 
suggestion; passes 5-0-2 with Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent. 

• Suggestion not to forget to look at the long list of improvements along Willow Road
already in the master plan.

Chair DeCardy recessed the meeting for a short break. 

Chair DeCardy reconvened the meeting at 8:46 p.m. 

F5.  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit and architectural control to allow 
comprehensive exterior modifications to an existing multi-tenant commercial building and to 
allow a change of use from a salon, tutoring service, and vacant suite to a yoga and 
wellness studio and a café, on a parcel with substandard parking, in the SP-ECR/D (El 
Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district, at 605 Cambridge. The proposal also 
includes a use permit request to allow outdoor seating associated with the proposed café. 
Determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s 
Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. (Staff Report #22-068-PC) 

Assistant Planner Fahteen Khan noted a correction that 20 parking spaces was the 
regulation requirement and not 16 as stated on page 2 of the staff report.  

Chair DeCardy opened and closed the public hearing as no persons requested to speak. 

The Commission suggested potential treatment for the existing brick façade.  

Chair DeCardy moved to approve as recommended. Commissioner Riggs said he would 
second to include guidance to have a vine planting on the brick façade as part of the 
architectural control review.  

Discussion ensued on allowing the applicants to do some type of treatment to the brick 
façade. 

Camden Santo, Square Three Architects, and Anh Cohn, property owner, indicated support 
to have the option to do some type of treatment to the brick façade working with staff.   

ACTION: Motion and second (DeCardy/Riggs) to adopt a resolution to approve a use permit 
and architectural control to allow comprehensive exterior modifications to an existing multi-
tenant commercial building and to allow a change of use from a salon, tutoring service, and 
vacant suite to a yoga and wellness studio and a café, on a parcel with substandard 
parking, in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district, at 605 
Cambridge; and a use permit request to allow outdoor seating associated with the proposed 
café, and to determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 
15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities; passes 5-0-2 with Commissioners Barnes 
and Harris absent. 



Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
December 5, 2022 
Page 5 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

F6.  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a request for architectural control for exterior 
modifications to an existing commercial building in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino 
Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district and a use permit for outdoor seating, at 772-
780 Santa Cruz Avenue and 1110 Crane Street. The request includes modifications to the 
Santa Cruz Avenue, Crane Street, and Ryan’s Lane façades. The proposal also includes a 
request for a use permit to allow outdoor seating along the Crane Street frontage for a 
proposed restaurant at 772-780 Santa Cruz Avenue. Determine this action is categorically 
exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. 
(Staff Report #22-069-PC) 

Planner Pruter said a comment was received earlier in the day that was circulated to 
Commissioners and added to the online agenda regarding a care facility near the subject 
property.  

Kristin Murray-Ralston introduced her colleague Courtland Ogren and herself as the project 
applicants and spoke on behalf of the project. 

Chair DeCardy opened the public hearing. 

Public Comment: 

• Dorothy Jannink, 1110 Crane Street Salon, supported the project but had concerns
about the project’s impacts on her business and requested more communication from
the applicant, property manager and city.

Chair DeCardy closed the public hearing. 

The Commission clarified the outdoor seating request and suggested the applicant 
communicate more with adjacent neighbors as the project progressed.  

ACTION: Motion and second (Do/Schindler) to adopt a resolution to approve a request for 
architectural control for exterior modifications to an existing commercial building in the SP-
ECR/D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district and a use permit for 
outdoor seating, at 772-780 Santa Cruz Avenue and 1110 Crane Street including  
modifications to the Santa Cruz Avenue, Crane Street, and Ryan’s Lane façades, and a use 
permit to allow outdoor seating along the Crane Street frontage for a proposed restaurant at 
772-780 Santa Cruz Avenue, and determining this action is categorically exempt under
CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities; passes 5-0-2with
Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent.

F7.  Consider and adopt a resolution recommending that the City Council adopt a resolution 
approving a request for a two-year extension of a vesting tentative map to merge the 
existing SP-ECR/D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) lots, abandon a portion of 
Alto Lane, and create a two-lot subdivision for condominium purposes, with 12 residential 
units, one restaurant space and no more than three retail spaces on one lot in the SP-



Planning Commission Draft Minutes 
December 5, 2022 
Page 6 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

ECR/D zoning district, at 201 El Camino Real, and two townhouses on the second lot in the 
R-3 (Apartment) zoning district, at 612 Cambridge Avenue. The request is associated with a 
previously approved project containing a new three-story mixed use building with a below-
ground parking lot, and two detached townhouses. This action is consistent
with the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration adopted for this project by the City 
Council on October 27, 2020. (Staff Report #22-070-PC)

Planner Pruter said staff had no additions to the written report. 

Stuart Welte, EID Architects, spoke on behalf of the project. 

Chair DeCardy opened and closed the public hearing as no persons requested to speak. 

ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Schindler) to adopt a resolution recommending that the 
City Council adopt a resolution approving a request for a two-year extension of a vesting 
tentative map to merge the existing SP-ECR/D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) 
lots, abandon a portion of Alto Lane, and create a two-lot subdivision for condominium 
purposes, with 12 residential units, one restaurant space and no more than three retail 
spaces on one lot in the SP-ECR/D zoning district, at 201 El Camino Real, and two 
townhouses on the second lot in the R-3 (Apartment) zoning district, at 612 Cambridge 
Avenue; passes 5-0-2 with Commissioners Barnes and Harris absent.  

G. Informational Items

G1.  Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 

• Regular Meeting: December 12, 2022

Planner Sandmeier said the December 12 agenda would have the 123 Independence Drive 
project EIR scoping session and study session, the Parkline project EIR scoping and study 
session, and one other project.  

• Regular Meeting: January 9, 2023

H. Adjournment

Chair DeCardy adjourned the meeting at 9:48 p.m.

Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Acting Principal Planner

Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett



Community Development 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Date:  3/27/2023 
Staff Report Number:  23-022-PC

Consent Calendar: Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an 
Architectural Control permit to modify the exterior 
of an existing building in the R-MU-B (Residential 
Mixed Use District) zoning district, at 120 
Constitution Drive 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving an architectural control 
request to modify the exterior of an existing office building in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use District) 
zoning district, at 120 Constitution Drive. The proposed changes include painting the street facing awning, 
removal of metal awnings and replacement with wood awnings, repainting the building, window changes 
and the addition of a new enclosed, uncovered patio. The draft resolution, including the recommended 
actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

Policy Issues 
Each architectural control request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider 
whether the required architectural control findings can be made for the proposal. 

Background 
Site location 
The subject property is located in the Bayfront area and is developed with a single-story office building 
with a mezzanine and a 66-stall surface parking lot. The office building was originally constructed around 
1964 as a warehouse and converted to office use around 1978.   

Using Constitution Drive in the east-west orientation, the subject property is located at the southern side of 
the street. The subject property, along with neighboring developments along the southern side of 
Constitution Drive, is located in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use District) zoning district.  

The subject site is surrounded by a number of newer projects such as Menlo Portal, an under-construction 
residential/office mixed-use project, and completed projects including Hotel Nia and several offices for 
Facebook/Meta.  A location map is included as Attachment B. 



Staff Report #: 23-022-PC 
Page 2 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Analysis 
Project description 
The applicant is requesting changes including painting the street facing awning, removal of metal awnings 
and replacement with wood awnings, repainting the building, window changes and the addition of a new 
enclosed, uncovered patio. The project plans and the applicant’s project description letter are included as 
Exhibits A and B to Attachment A, respectively. 

The proposed enclosed, uncovered patio would require the removal of six parking stalls. The R-MU-B 
zoning district requires a minimum of two spaces per 1,000 square feet and a maximum of three per 1,000 
square feet, or 48-72 spaces based on the building area of 23,743 square feet. The applicant is proposing 
to retain 60 spaces, of which 51 are standard stalls, three are accessible stalls, and six are EV (Electric 
Vehicle) stalls. 

The applicant is proposing new design elements for the façade which include a new self-supported 
replacement entrance awning on the east elevation and a corner, full-height accent element where the 
east and north elevations meet.  

Additionally, the applicant is proposing two alternative design elements which they would like to construct 
pending the final cost of construction. One alternative design element consists of a continuous blade 
awning along the east elevation above the mezzanine windows and the second consists of additional 
lighting elements at the front and side entry areas. 

Minor site upgrades for ADA access and parking upgrades, minor facade modifications for accessible 
replacement doors, interior remodel, and new finishes throughout were previously approved as part of 
BLD2022-02477 and would be constructed concurrently with the architectural control proposal. No 
increase of building area or change of use was proposed or approved through the building permit. 

Design and materials 
The proposed project would include a new uncovered patio enclosed by a fence constructed of ipe fence 
panels with a steel, laser-cut egress gate. The proposed design elements would include ipe wood for the 
new self-supported entrance awning and rustic metal siding for the corner design element. The applicant 
is proposing to repaint the entire building in a medium gray. Staff believes these changes would be 
consistent with the aesthetic of the surrounding buildings and would provide a cohesive update for the 
subject property.  

Per Municipal Code 16.45.130, the R-MU-B zoning district requires bird-friendly glazing. For the two 
replacement windows, the applicant has specified a custom film of one half-inch-diameter light gray 
marker dots in the shape of a ball and hook to meet the bird-friendly glazing requirement.  

Trees and landscaping  
An arborist report was not included in this application and the City Arborist confirmed that no heritage 
trees are located on or near this parcel. No trees are proposed for removal as part of this application. 



Staff Report #: 23-022-PC 
Page 3 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

As part of a previously approved building application (BLD2022-02477), several non-heritage cypress 
trees were removed along the east façade of the project. Additionally, two parking spaces are approved to 
be removed to facilitate required ADA upgrades to the side entrance and will be replaced with landscaped 
islands. 

Correspondence  
Due to the surrounding properties being generally office in nature, the applicant has elected not to conduct 
community outreach as part of this application. As of the writing of this report, staff has not received any 
correspondence on the proposed project. 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the scale, materials, and proposed design of the patio and architectural elements would 
be compatible with the existing office development and surrounding buildings. Staff recommends that the 
Planning Commission approve the proposed project. 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the 
City’s Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

Environmental Review 
The Project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing Facilities”) of the current 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution of Approval Adopting Findings for project Architectural Control

Permit, including Project Conditions of Approval 
Exhibits to Attachment A
a. Project Plans
b. Project Description Letter



City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Staff Report #: 23-022-PC 
Page 4 

c. Conditions of Approval
B. Location Map

Disclaimer 
Attached are reduced versions of maps and diagrams submitted by the applicants. The accuracy of the 
information in these drawings is the responsibility of the applicants, and verification of the accuracy by City 
Staff is not always possible. The original full-scale maps, drawings, and exhibits are available for public 
viewing at Community Development. 

Exhibits to be provided at meeting 
None 

Report prepared by: 
Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner 

Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 



ATTACHMENT A 

1 
A1 

Resolution No. 2023-XX 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2023-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING AN ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL 
PERMIT TO MODIFY THE EXTERIOR OF AN EXISTING BUILDING IN 
THE R-MU-B (RESIDENTIAL MIXED USE DISTRICT) ZONING 
DISTRICT. THE PROPOSED CHANGES INCLUDE PAINTING THE 
STREET FACING AWNING, REMOVAL OF METAL AWNINGS AND 
REPLACEMENT WITH WOOD AWNINGS, REPAINTING THE 
BUILDING, WINDOW CHANGES AND THE ADDITION OF A NEW 
ENCLOSED, UNCOVERED PATIO. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting 
architectural control review permit to modify the exterior of  an existing office building, 
including painting the street facing awning, removal of metal awnings and replacement with 
wood awnings, repainting the building, window changes and the addition of a new enclosed, 
uncovered patio in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use District) zoning district (collectively, 
the “Project”) from Alex Ross (“Applicant”), on behalf of the Agent Marian Selvaggio 
(“Agent”), located at 120 Constitution Drive (APN 055-236-290) (“Property”). The 
Architectural Control permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and project 
description letter, which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and 
incorporated herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Residential Mixed Use (R-MU-B) district. 
The R-MU-B district supports high-density housing and administrative/office uses, which 
supports a variety of uses including personal services, business and professional offices 
and residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, the findings and conditions for the architectural control would ensure that 
all City requirements are applied consistently and correctly as part of the project’s 
implementation; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering Division and 
found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

A1



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

2 
A2 

 

 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized 
above, and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources 
Code Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s environmental 
impacts; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA 

Guidelines, and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and 
approval of environmental documents for the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, 

“Existing Facilities”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 

according to law; and 
 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 27, 2023, 
the Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the architectural control permit. 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 

Section 1. Recitals. The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 

 
 

Section 2. Architectural Control Findings. The Planning Commission of the City of 
Menlo Park does hereby make the following Findings: 

 
The approval of the architectural control permit for the modifications to the exterior of an 
existing building is granted based on the following findings which are made pursuant to 
Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.68.020: 

A2



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

3 
A3 

1. That the general appearance of the structure is in keeping with the character of the
neighborhood; in that, the Project is designed in a modern architectural style
consistent with the newer construction of the surrounding neighborhood.

2. That the development will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly growth
of the city; in that, the project consists of exterior modifications consistent with the
existing building, as permitted by the Municipal Code.

3. That the development will not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in
the neighborhood; in that, the project consists of exterior modifications consistent
with the Municipal Code. The proposed materials and colors used will be
compatible with the appearance of the existing neighboring buildings. Therefore,
the Project would not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in the
neighborhood.

4. That the development provides adequate parking as required in all applicable City
Ordinances and has made adequate provisions for access to such parking; in that
parking is provided consistent with the Municipal Code.

5. That the development is consistent with any applicable specific plan; in that, the project is not
located within a specific plan area. However, the project is consistent with all applicable codes,
ordinances, and requirements outlined in the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code.

Section 4. Architectural Control Permit. The Planning Commission hereby approves the 
Architectural Control Permit, No. PLN2022-00063, which Architectural Control is depicted in 
and subject to the development plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively. The 
Architectural Control is conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit C. 

Section 5. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW. The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having 
reviewed and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

A. The Project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing
Facilities”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines

Section 6. SEVERABILITY. If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of 
these findings to a particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the 
remaining provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison of the City of Menlo 
Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly 
and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 27, 
2023, by the following votes: 

AYES: 

A3



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

4 
A4 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City 
on this March 27, 2023 

Corinna Sandmeier 
Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison 
City of Menlo Park 

Exhibits 
A. Project Plans
B. Project Description Letter
C. Conditions of Approval

A4



EXHIBIT A

A5



A6



A7



A8



A9



A10



A11



A12



A13



A14



A15



A16



A17



A18



A19



A20



A21



A22



A23



A24



A25



A26



A27



A28



A29



A30



A31



P.O. Box 20008, San Jose,  CA  95160  *  Ph: 408/295-5667  *  Email:  alex@pillarsarchitecture.com 

December 15, 2022 

Attn:  Christopher Turner, Associate Planner 
City of Menlo Park Planning Department 

Re:   Project Narrative 
Rudolph and Sletten Façade Modifications 
120 Constitution Drive 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

The following narrative has been created to assist in explaining the proposed scope of exterior modifications 
planned for the building located at 120 Constitution Drive.     

The current site consists of a basic parking lot with an existing 2 story building.  The current building has 
three main entry points that are all covered with a metal clad awning; one along the street facing frontage 
and two along the east parking lot façade.  The building is painted a salmon color.  Storefront glass is 
prominent along the street frontage and the east side of the building facing the parking lot has multiple 
casement windows.   

We are proposing to paint the street facing awning red (the tenants branded color) to give the frontage a bit 
more pop and introduce some rustic metal siding along the corner of the building to add some texture and 
scale.  The rustic metal will accent the red awning and pay homage to the tenant’s construction business.  
The corner accent will also have a backlit symbol to add some identity to the building.   

Along the Parking lot side we are removing both metal clad awnings and replacing one with a wood clad 
awning and a wood clad façade system at the side entrance.  The back entrance to the building we are 
proposing to remove 6 parking spaces and create an outdoor lounge for the office workers.  This space will 
be mostly concrete with some synthetic turf, shrubs and a service counter.  This area will also have a fence 
surrounding it for additional privacy.   

Additionally, we are proposing to paint the building, windowsill treatments and the current building cornice. 
Gray will be the main body color so that the metal siding, wood awning and red refurbished awning will be 
better complemented.   

The owner also has three alternative design features that we are proposing here but may get removed as 
construction estimates become finalized.  First is the continuous blade awning that bisects the second floor 
windows.  This is a simple shade element that has both the function of providing late morning shade and 
gives this long façade some relief.  Second is to add three bollard lights at the side entry for some accent 
lighting.  And last is to add 4 column lights along the frontage to accent the building.  Both of these light 
fixtures would be the only exterior lighting besides the street and parking lot lighting currently existing.   

None of the proposed work will add any area to the building.  Please let us know if you have any questions 
regarding our design approach or need additional information.       

Best regards, 

PILLARs 
Alex G. Ross, Architect, Lic. #C-27341 

EXHIBIT B

A32



120 Constitution Drive – Attachment A, Exhibit C 

LOCATION: 120 
Constitution Drive 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2022-00063 

APPLICANT: Alex 
Ross 

AGENT: Marian 
Selvaggio 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The architectural control permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Pillars Architecture, consisting of 27 plan sheets, dated received March 7,
2023 and approved by the Planning Commission on March 27, 2023, except as
modified by the conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the
Planning Division.

b. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all Sanitary District,
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly
applicable to the project.

c. The applicants shall comply with all requirements of the Building Division, Engineering
Division, and Transportation Division that are directly applicable to the project and in
effect at the time of building permit issuance.

d. Applicant shall keep the property in a clean and sanitary condition at all times, and
maintain its site in a fashion that does not constitute a public nuisance and that does
not violate any provision of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code.

e. The Project shall adhere to all ordinances, plans, regulations, and specifications of the
City of Menlo Park and all applicable local, State, and Federal laws and regulations.

f. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers,
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

h. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of
grading, demolition or building permits.

i. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be retained and/or
protected pursuant to the Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by
Bo Firestone Consulting & Design, dated received December 21, 2021.

j. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

k. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of
Menlo Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or
proceeding against the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to
attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council,

EXHIBIT C

A33



120 Constitution Drive – Attachment A, Exhibit C 

Community Development Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of 
the City concerning a development, variance, permit, or land use approval; provided, 
however, that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless shall be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of 
any said claim, action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s 
or permittee’s defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings. 

l. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations,
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application.

A34



City of Menlo Park

120 Constitution Drive
Location Map

Date: 3/13/2023 Drawn By:4,000 CDH Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



Community Development 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/27/2023 
Staff Report Number:  23-023-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to deny a use 

permit to exceed the maximum nighttime noise limit 
of 50 dBA, measured at residential property lines, to 
accommodate electric pool heating equipment for 
the approved Menlo Park Community Campus 
(MPCC) development currently under construction 
at 100 Terminal Avenue, in the P-F (Public Facilities) 
zoning district  

 
Recommendation 
On February 27, 2023, staff recommended that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a 
use permit to allow the Menlo Park Community Campus (MPCC) air source heat pumps (ASHPs) to exceed 
the maximum nighttime noise limit of 50 dBA measured at the nearest residential property line. At the 
February 27, 2023 Planning Commission meeting, the Planning Commission directed staff to return with a 
resolution denying the use permit to allow the MPCC ASHPs to exceed the 50 dBA noise limit.  Based on 
that direction and Commissioner comments at that meeting, staff drafted the attached resolution, including 
the recommended findings to deny the use permit, which is included as Attachment A. 

 
Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposal. 

 
Background 
Site location 
The project site is located at 100 Terminal Avenue in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district. The project 
site is bordered by the Dumbarton rail corridor to the north, U.S. Highway 101 to the west, Beechwood 
School and residences in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district to the east, and a 
Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) substation and other residences in the R-1-U zoning district to the south 
and southeast. A location map is included as Attachment B. 
 
The Menlo Park Community Campus Project was approved by City Council on January 12, 2021. The 
project consists of redevelopment of the Onetta Harris Community Center, Menlo Park Senior Center, and 
Belle Haven Youth Center into one new community campus building. The project also consists of the 
construction of new pool facilities to replace the existing Belle Haven pool facilities. In an effort to further the 
City’s environmental policies and goals, the MPCC building and facilities (including the pools) were 
designed to achieve LEED Platinum and be operated without the use of natural gas. 
 
 



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Staff Report #: 23-023-PC 
Page 2 

Previous Planning Commission reviews 
The Planning Commission reviewed the request to exceed the maximum nighttime noise limit for a second 
time at its February 27, 2023 regular meeting. Eleven members of the public made comments in opposition 
to the use permit, citing concerns about increased noise pollution and detrimental effects on the Belle 
Haven neighborhood. Planning Commissioners expressed concerns that other alternatives, such as dividing 
the heating units into smaller equipment packages to be located in different areas of the site or modifying 
the proposed temperatures and/or operating schedules of the pools, had not been fully explored during the 
development of the MPCC. Commissioners suggested that the pool heating options should be reevaluated 
with the first priority being to meet the City’s noise ordinance requirements. The Commission continued the 
project and directed staff to prepare findings to deny the use permit, send a new notice for the meeting 
where the denial findings would be considered to residents within a 300-foot radius of the project site, and 
evaluate the potential for other forms of outreach to the neighborhood. 

The Planning Commission originally reviewed the project at the October 3, 2022 regular meeting. During the 
meeting, commissioners expressed concerns with the proposed noise generated by the proposed ASHPs 
and continued the project. The Commission directed staff and the applicant to perform additional research 
into alternate designs and equipment that could reduce noise levels, and conduct public outreach to gain 
feedback on the proposed amplified noise. 

The staff report and meeting minutes from the October 3, 2022 meeting are included as hyperlinks in 
Attachments C and D, respectively. The staff report from the February 27, 2023 meeting is included as a 
hyperlink in Attachment E. Information regarding previous analyses of pool heating equipment 
requirements; noise effects; alternative energy sources, locations, and noise-dampening solutions; and 
public outreach efforts are provided in those reports. 

Analysis 
Project description 
Chapter 8.06 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code (MPMC) regulates noise, and places limitations on noise 
emanating from any source measured at residential property lines at 60 dBA during daytime hours (between 
7 a.m. and 10 p.m.) and 50 dBA during nighttime hours (between 10 p.m. and 7 a.m.). Section 8.06.050 
enumerates certain exemptions from the noise limitations, including for any use for which a use permit is 
granted that specifically allows noise levels to be exceeded. The applicant proposed to exceed the 
maximum nighttime noise limit for pool heating equipment.  

The heating equipment, as currently designed, consists of five ASHPs that would be located on the 
southern side of the new MPCC building. Electric pool heaters are generally noisier than natural gas 
heaters. Not all ASHPs would be required to be running at all times in order to successfully heat the pools, 
but the applicant states that there may be times when all five heat pumps would run simultaneously in the 
early morning (nighttime hours) in order to heat the pools for morning users. If all five ASHPs were running, 
the noise would exceed 50 dBA at residential properties along Del Norte Avenue and Terminal Avenue. The 
noise would not exceed the daytime limit of 60 dBA at any residential property line.  

The applicant provided an analysis of the approximate required run time throughout the year in their project 
description letter (Attachment A Exhibit B). The amount of time the ASHPs would be required to operate 
would vary throughout the year depending on ambient temperatures, utilization of pool covers, and the how 
well heat is retained in the pools. The analysis provided by the applicant indicated that in order to 
adequately heat the pools, maximum run time would be up to approximately 4.3 hours in a 24-hour period in 
the summer months, and up to approximately 7.6 hours in a 24-hour period in winter months. Since the 



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Staff Report #: 23-023-PC 
Page 3 

exact run times would vary and exact operation details are difficult to predict, the applicant requested to be 
allowed to exceed the maximum nighttime noise limits at any point in the year. 

Response to Planning Commission direction 
As directed by the Planning Commission at its February 27, 2023 meeting, staff has prepared a resolution 
with findings to deny the use permit on the following grounds: 
• The use permit would create the potential for a noise disturbance during nighttime hours without any

certainty of the number of hours per day or days per year that nearby residences may be impacted.
Granting the use permit could have negative effects on the health and comfort of residents who would be
exposed to noise from the equipment that would exceed the maximum nighttime sound levels.

• Studies of alternatives, such as different equipment locations, distribution of equipment across multiple
locations on the site, alternative heating equipment types, modifications to the proposed heating and
operating schedules of the pools, and potential sound barriers were not completely exhausted, and other
alternatives may still be viable.

Based on the summary of findings above and in response to direction from the Planning Commission, staff 
recommends that the Planning Commission approve the resolution to deny the use permit request. City staff 
and the project consultants will continue to evaluate alternatives that would allow the project to operate 
without the use of natural gas while also meeting the City’s noise ordinance requirements. 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution Adopting Findings of Denial for project Use Permit

Exhibits to Attachment A
A. Project Plans
B. Project Description Letter



Staff Report #: 23-023-PC 
Page 4 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

B. Location Map
C. October 3, 2022 Staff Report Hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-

minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/agendas/20221003-planning-commission-agenda-
packet.pdf

D. October 3, 2022 Meeting Minutes Hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-
and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/minutes/20221003-planning-commission-minutes.pdf

E. February 27, 2023 Staff Report Hyperlink: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-
minutes/planning-commission/2023-meetings/agendas/20230227-planning-commission-agenda-
packet.pdf

Disclaimer 
Attached are reduced versions of maps and diagrams submitted by the applicants. The accuracy of the 
information in these drawings is the responsibility of the applicants, and verification of the accuracy by City 
Staff is not always possible. The original full-scale maps, drawings, and exhibits are available for public 
viewing at the Community Development Department. 

Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None 

Report prepared by: 
Tom Smith, Principal Planner 
Chris Turner, Associate Planner 
Sean S. Reinhart, Library and Community Services Director 

Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/agendas/20221003-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/agendas/20221003-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/agendas/20221003-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/minutes/20221003-planning-commission-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/minutes/20221003-planning-commission-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2023-meetings/agendas/20230227-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2023-meetings/agendas/20230227-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2023-meetings/agendas/20230227-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf


Resolution No. 2023-XX 

1 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2023-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK DENYING A USE PERMIT TO ALLOW POOL HEATING 
EQUIPMENT TO EXCEED THE NIGHTTIME NOISE LIMIT MEASURED 
AT RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY LINES 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting to be 
permitted to exceed the noise limits established in Section 8.06.030 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code at a parcel in the in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district, (collectively, 
the “Project”) from the City of Menlo Park (“Applicant”), located at 100 Terminal Avenue 
(APN 055-280-040) (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Public Facilities (P-F) district; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently under construction as part of the new Menlo 
Park Community Campus (MPCC) project; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed pool heating equipment would be all-electric. Electric pool 
heating equipment is noisier than natural gas pool heating equipment and, as proposed, 
would exceed the maximum nighttime noise limit of 50 dBA measured at residential property 
lines; and 

WHEREAS, Section 8.06.050 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code includes an 
exemption from the noise limitations for projects that are granted a use permit that allows 
noise limits to be exceeded; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the project at the October 3, 2022 
meeting and continued the item with the direction to study alternative methods of heating, 
noise-dampening barriers, and alternate locations for the equipment in addition to 
conducting outreach to the affected community; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant completed robust outreach to the neighboring properties, 
including door-to-door outreach, to receive feedback from residents who would be affected 
by the amplified noise and inform them of the public hearing, and 11 persons commented in 
opposition to the project at the February 27, 2023 meeting; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the project at the February 27, 2023 
meeting and considered additional analysis regarding alternative options for the equipment 
and continued the item with the direction to prepare a resolution denying the use permit for 
the Project because the required findings could not be made; and 

ATTACHMENT A

A1



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

2 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized 
above, and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources 
Code Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s environmental
impacts; and

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA 
Guidelines, and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and 
approval of environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant 
to Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15302 et seq. (Replacement or Reconstruction); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 27, 2023, 
the Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of 
Menlo Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The use permit to exceed nighttime noise limits measured at residential property lines 
is denied based on the following findings which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal 
Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, under
the circumstance of the particular case, be detrimental to the health, safety, morals,
comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the neighborhood of such
proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and improvements in the
neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because:

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of all
adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in question

A2



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

3 

and surrounding areas, and the impact of the application hereon would 
create the potential for a noise disturbance without any certainty of the 
number of hours per day or days per year that nearby residences may be 
impacted. Furthermore, granting the use permit may have negative impacts 
on the health and comfort of individuals whose residences would be exposed 
to noise from the equipment that would exceed the maximum nighttime 
sound levels. 

b. Studies of alternatives, such as different equipment locations, distribution of
equipment across multiple locations on the site, alternate heating equipment
types, modifications to the proposed heating and operating schedules of the
pools, and sound barriers that would reduce noise levels below the
maximum limits were not exhausted, and other alternatives may be viable.

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission denies Use Permit No. 
PLN2022-00017, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans 
and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively. 

Section 4.  Environmental Review.  The Planning Commission makes the following findings, 
based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed and 
taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

A. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal.
Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15302 et seq. (Replacement or Reconstruction).

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY 

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison of the City of 
Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution 
was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on 
March 27, 2023, by the following votes: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

A3



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

4 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said 
City on this 27th day of March, 2023. 

______________________________ 
Corinna Sandmeier 
Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison 
City of Menlo Park 

Exhibits 
A. Project Plans
B. Project Description Letter

A4



EXHIBIT A

A5



City of Menlo Park  701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Public Works 

February 21, 2023 

Empty 
RE: Project description letter 
100 Terminal Ave 
Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) Use Permit – Menlo Park Community Campus 
Empty 
Dear Menlo Park Planning Commission, 

The Menlo Park Community Campus (MPCC), located at 100 Terminal Avenue, is 
under construction and is scheduled to open in 2024. The new facility will include a 
public gymnasium, library, senior center, youth center, commercial-grade kitchen, 
community meeting room, dining hall, and outdoor aquatics center for the 
community’s benefit. To meet the City’s goals of sustainable design and construction 
and to comply with the “reach code” ordinance passed by the City Council in 2019, 
fossil fuels will not be used in the operation of the building. The City of Menlo Park 
has taken great strides in reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the 
building sector. Electrifying new buildings reduces GHG emissions and helps improve 
air quality and environmental health and safety for residents, because all-electric 
appliances emit very little GHG emission compared to natural gas appliances. 

Two new pools will be constructed as part of the MPCC project.  Since natural gas 
was not an option for heating the pools (per the City’s ordinance described above), it 
is included for comparison purposes only. Other heating methods that were 
considered were solar heating, air source heat pumps, electric heaters, and 
cogeneration.    
• Gas heaters heat water quickly and keep the temperatures stable regardless of

outdoor temperature. They have a lower initial purchase price and installation cost.
However, they use finite natural resources to operate, and are not environmentally
friendly. Operating costs are high due to the high cost of natural gas.  The
Lochinvar gas heater was evaluated as a baseline pool heating system.  Noise
levels for gas heaters are typically 30-40 decibels at a distance of 5 feet.
Additionally, gas heaters can be placed indoors.

• Solar heating is an effective and cost-efficient way to heat pools. However, solar
heating alone rarely meets the temperature requirements due to lack of sun,
overcast skies, and system inefficiencies. Solar heating was selected as the
primary source of heating for the pools, and is paired with heat pumps for the most
efficient and cost-effective system.

• Air source heat pumps (ASHPs) are powered by electricity. They operate by

EXHIBIT B

A6



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

2 

extracting heat from the outside air, increasing the heat with a compressor, 
delivering the heat to the water, and ejecting the cold air out the top of the unit. 
This method of heating is environmentally friendly and uses less energy than other 
heating methods.  ASHPs must be located outdoors and require clear space all 
around for proper air flow.   

• Electric heaters are also powered by electricity, and generate heat from a heating
element. Electric heaters are less efficient and more expensive to operate than air
source heat pumps. They are ideal for small pools or spas, but the electrical load
to heat the two new swimming pools would be too large, resulting in an ineffective
and expensive heating method.

• Cogeneration is a system that produces both heat and electricity from one primary
energy source. While cogeneration can provide high energy efficiency, the most
widely used cogeneration technologies burn fuel such as natural gas or oil, and
therefore do not comply with the City’s reach codes. Additionally, cogeneration
systems can be very expensive to install, and were cost prohibitive.

Ultimately, it was determined that solar thermal piping in conjunction with a series of 
five ASHPs was the most efficient and cost effective heating method for the pools. 
Heat pumps and solar heaters complement each other because they utilize different 
forms of renewable energy. Air source heat pumps work very well when average air 
temperatures exceed 50°F (10°C). They work less efficiently in air temperatures 
below 50°F (10°C), however, and they stop altogether in freezing temperatures. Solar 
heaters depend on sunlight, and operate very efficiently in sunny weather. They work 
less efficiently in cloudy weather, however, and cannot operate at night.  By utilizing 
both solar heating and heat pumps, the swimming pools can be heated to the desired 
temperatures in almost all weather conditions.   

The air source heat pump selected was the AquaCal “Great Big Bopper” (see 
Attachment A). This particular unit was selected due to its heating capacity and 
relatively low noise level, as compared to similar pumps from other manufacturers.  
The table below shows heat pump noise levels from a variety of manufacturers.   

Manufacturer Model Sound level decibels 
AquaCal SQ175 55 db 
Hayward HP21404T 60 db 
Jandy EE3000T 59 db 
Pentair 140 58 db 
Rheem M8350ti 64 db 

Using smaller heat pumps was also considered.  However, it was found that at least 
28 of AquaCals smaller pumps (model SQ225) would be required, and would more 
noise would result. 

The ASHPs will be in operation when heating the pool, year round. The ASHPs are 

A7



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

3 

expected to be on most of the time the pool is open. The table below includes the 
maximum and minimum heating time according to month. In the coldest months, the 
maximum run time would be 7.4-7.6 hours over a 24-hour period. In the summer, the 
maximum run time would be 4.3-4.8 hours over a 24-hour period. It is not possible to 
specify the exact heating time every night.      

The ASHPs will be on at nighttime to heat the pool to the desired temperatures to be 
ready for morning use. There will be times when the ASHPs are running and exceed 
the Menlo Park noise ordinance. The residential noise limits are 50 decibels during 
nighttime hours, and 60 decibels during daytime hours. When all 5 pumps are 
running, the sound levels emanating from the ASHPs may exceed the nighttime 
residential limit of 50 decibels, however they would be below the daytime limit of 60 
decibels. Please see the Noise Attenuation Diagram (Attachment B) which shows the 
decibel readings at the property lines.  

Several noise mitigation strategies were evaluated, including aftermarket attenuators, 
sound barriers, and moving the pumps to other locations on the site.  

A noise analysis (Attachment C) was conducted by Salter, an acoustics consultant, in 
September 2021, to provide recommendations to achieve a 10 decibel sound 
reduction. Salter analyzed the locations for the attenuators to be attached to the 
ASHPs (two of the sides and the top were found to emit the most noise), and 
recommended that a third party manufacturer design the dimensions of the 
attenuators. Norman S. Wright Mechanical Equipment Corporation sized custom 
silencers manufactured by VibroAcoustics to fit the ASHPs.  To achieve the 
requested 10 decibels reduction, the silencers would need to be 60”x 54”x 90”. The 
ASHPs are located between the building and the PG&E property line, in a space that 
is 10’-7” wide. The ASHPs with the added silencers would not physically fit in the 
space provided (see Attachment D).    

Solid sound barriers were also considered to reduce noise, however, the ASHPs 
require 6’ of clearance on all sides, and 12’ of clearance overhead, in order that air 
flow is not restricted. See Attachment E for clearance requirements.  Additionally, 
sound barriers would not fit due to the site constraints.  The proximity of the ASHPs to 
the PG&E property line on the south (and clearance required by the ASHPs for air 
circulation), the building to the north, and required Fire Access Clearance required on 
the East and West do not make it possible to install sound barriers anywhere on site. 
This required clearance between the gym wall and the units means that the fence on 
the south side of the property must be chain link and cannot be blocked.  

A8



City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

4 

The ASHPs come with the compressors wrapped to reduce noise emissions.  Other 
types of sound blankets would restrict the air flow and would not be feasible.  It 
should be noted that the heat pump warranty would be void if not installed within 
specifications.  

Relocating the ASHPs to alternate locations on the site was also considered. The 
ASHPs are located at the maximum design length possible (180 feet from the 
instructional pool, and 200 feet from the lap pool). If the pumps were moved farther 
away than this distance, additional piping and recirculation pumps would be needed 
to pump water from the pool to the heaters and back. More pumps would result in 
more noise. Additionally, if the pumps were moved to the pool house area (either 
adjacent to or on top of the pool equipment building), they would be closer to the 
residential property line and the sound level would increase.   

In summary, the ASHPs as proposed are the only feasible option to effectively heat 
the pools to the desired temperature and operating hours. The ambient noise will be 
limited to no more than 60 decibels at any time, but will exceed the ordinance of 50 
decibels at night.  

Sincerely, 

Theresa Avedian, Senior Civil Engineer

List of Attachments 
Attachment A:  Great Big Bopper specification 
Attachment B:  Noise attenuation diagram 
Attachment C:  Noise analysis memo 
Attachment D:  Silencer schedule and diagram  
Attachment E:  Clearance requirements for ASHPs 

A9



City of Menlo Park

100 TERMINLA AVENUE (MPCC)
Location Map

Date: 3/27/2023 Drawn By:4,000 CRT Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



Community Development 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Date:  3/27/2023 
Staff Report Number:  23-024-PC
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use

permit  to add to and remodel an existing non-
conforming, single-story, single-family residence
in the R-1-S (Single Family Suburban Residential)
zoning district, at 1145 Hidden Oaks Avenue

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit to add to and 
remodel an existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in the R-1-S (Single-Family 
Suburban Residential) zoning district.  The value of the proposed work would exceed 75 percent of the 
replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-month period. The draft resolution, 
including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A.  

Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether 
the required use permit findings can be made for the proposal.  

Background 
Site location 
The project site is located at 1145 Hidden Oaks Drive between North Lemon Avenue and Elder Avenue. 
The property is located at the end of a cul-de-sac. All properties immediately adjacent to the subject 
property are also located in the R-1-S zoning district, however there are properties in the R-1-U (Single 
Family Suburban Residential) zoning district along North Lemon Avenue and Valparaiso Avenue to the 
west. All residences along the cul-de-sac are one- and two-story homes with varying architectural styles. 
The greater surrounding neighborhood features a mixture of older and newer one- and two-story 
residences. A location map is included as Attachment B. 

Analysis 
Project description 
The property is currently occupied by a one-story residence with an attached two-car garage. A portion of 
the garage and the entire left façade of the existing residence are nonconforming with respect to the front 
and left-side setbacks. Due to the location and shape of the lot, the frontage abuts the outside curve of a 
radius that is 100 feet or less, and so the front setback is based on the Subdivision Ordinance and located 
where the lot width equals 80 feet. 



Staff Report #: 23-024-PC 
Page 2 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The applicant is proposing to maintain the overall footprint, while adding onto both the front and right 
sides, to accommodate additional living space, and interior alterations to allow the additions. The 
proposed residence would include seven bedrooms (inclusive of two offices) and four bathrooms. The 
value of the proposed work would equal 102 percent of the replacement value of the non-conforming 
residence, exceeding the 75 percent use permit threshold in a 12-month period for a single-story 
residence.  

Of particular note with regard to Zoning Ordinance requirements: 
• The proposed floor area for the residence is 3,453.2 square feet. The maximum allowable floor area

limit (FAL) is 3,559.5 square feet.
• The proposed building coverage is 3,572.9 square feet, approximately 35.6 percent of the lot area,

where 40 percent is the maximum allowed for a single-story structure.
• The proposal would be 17.5 feet in height, where 28 feet is the maximum allowed.
• The project retains two covered parking spaces in an attached garage, where a minimum of one

covered space (plus one uncovered space) is required.

The proposed project would maintain the existing nonconforming encroachment at the front setback facing 
the street and the left side. The residence is proposed  to have a left-side setback of 9.6 feet, where a 10-
foot setback is required and a 24.4 feet front setback where 36.6 feet is required. Apart from the existing 
nonconforming condition of the residence with regard to the front and left-side setbacks, the proposed 
project conforms to the development standards of the R-1-S zoning district. A data table summarizing 
parcel and project attributes is included as Attachment C. The project plans and the applicant’s project 
description letter are included as Attachments D and E, respectively. 

Design and materials 
The applicant states in their project description letter that the project is designed in a subtype of ranch 
style with neoclassical elements. The exterior would predominantly feature painted horizontal siding with 
custom painted wood paneling under bay windows. The addition would feature a new covered front porch 
with painted wood columns with stone veneer steps. The roofing would be composition shingle, with 
painted metal gutters. 

The new garage door would have a barn style painted wood garage door with windows at the top of each 
divided panel. All the windows would be aluminum clad exterior with painted wood interiors and simulated 
true divided lights. Windows and doors would have painted wood casings with decorative cornice molding. 

Staff believes that the scale, materials, and style of the project would result in a consistent aesthetic 
approach and are generally consistent with the broader neighborhood, given the similar architectural 
styles and sizes of structures in the area.  

Trees and landscaping 
The applicant has submitted an arborist report (Attachment D), detailing the species, size, and conditions 
of on-site and nearby heritage and non-heritage trees. The arborist report includes a total of eight heritage 
trees around the subject property. One of the eight trees is a heritage-sized street tree. There are ten non-



Staff Report #: 23-024-PC 
Page 3 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

heritage trees located on the subject property, with three proposed for removal to accommodate the new 
front addition.  

The arborist report includes tree protection recommendations for the pre-construction, construction, and 
post-construction phases of the project. These arborist recommendations include the establishment of a 
tree protection zone for Trees # 2 and 4, guidance for preventing root damage, and guidance for pruning 
(less than 25 percent) of branches, amongst other specifications. As part of the project review process, the 
arborist report was reviewed by the City Arborist. Implementation of all recommendations to mitigate 
impacts to the heritage trees identified in the arborist report would be ensured as part of condition 1h. 

Valuation 
For projects involving existing nonconforming structures, the City uses standards established by the 
Building Division to calculate the replacement and new construction costs on which the use permit 
threshold is based. For context, the use permit threshold differs between 75 percent for a single-story 
structure and 50 percent for a two-story structure. Since the existing residence is a single-story structure, 
the 75 percent threshold applies. The City has determined that the value of the proposed work for the 
project would exceed 75 percent of the replacement cost of the existing structure, at approximately 102 
percent, and therefore requires use permit approval by the Planning Commission. 

Correspondence  
The applicant indicates that the property owners conducted outreach by contacting neighbors regarding 
the proposed project. The owners have received four letters of support for the proposed project. As of the 
publication of this report, staff has not received correspondence regarding the project. 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design, scale, and materials of the proposed project are generally compatible with 
the surrounding neighborhood, and would result in a consistent aesthetic approach. Staff recommends 
that the Planning Commission approve the proposed project.  

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the 
City’s Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines.  

Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 



Staff Report #: 23-024-PC 
Page 4 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution of Approval Adopting Findings for project Use Permit, including

project Conditions of Approval
Exhibits to Attachment A
A. Project Plans
B. Project Description Letter
C. Conditions of Approval

B. Location Map
C. Data Table
D. Arborist Report

Disclaimer 
Attached are reduced versions of maps and diagrams submitted by the applicants. The accuracy of the 
information in these drawings is the responsibility of the applicants, and verification of the accuracy by City 
Staff is not always possible. The original full-scale maps, drawings, and exhibits are available for public 
viewing at the Community Development Department. 

Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None 

Report prepared by: 
Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner 

Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

1 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2023-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO ADD TO AND 
REMODEL AN EXISTING NONCONFORMING SINGLE-STORY, 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE IN THE R-1-S (SINGLE-FAMILY 
SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICT.  THE PROPOSED 
WORK WOULD EXCEED 75 PERCENT OF THE REPLACEMENT 
VALUE OF THE EXISTING NONCONFORMING STRUCTURE IN A 12-
MONTH PERIOD. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting to add 
to and remodel an existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in the R-1-
S (Single-Family Suburban Residential) zoning district - the proposed work would exceed 
75 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-month 
period (collectively, the “Project”) from J Maliksi & Assoc (“Applicant”), on behalf of the 
property owner Kate Martin (“Owner”), located at 1145 Hidden Oaks Drive (APN 071-021-
210) (“Property”). The Project use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans
and documents which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this
reference; and

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Single Family Suburban Residential (R-1-
S) district. The R-1-S district supports single-family residential uses; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Project complies with most objective standards of the R-
1-S district; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering Division and 
found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an arborist report prepared by Heartwood 
Consulting Arborists which was reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in compliance 
with the Heritage Tree Ordinance and proposes mitigation measures to adequately protect 
heritage trees in the vicinity of the project; and 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized 
above, and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources 
Code Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s environmental
impacts; and

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA 
Guidelines, and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and 
approval of environmental documents for the Project; and  

ATTACHMENT A

A1



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

2 

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant 
to Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 27, 2023, 
the Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of 
Menlo Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit for the addition and interior alterations to an existing 
nonconforming one-story, single-family residence is granted based on the following findings 
which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, under
the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health, safety,
morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the neighborhood of
such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and improvements in the
neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because:

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of all
adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in question
and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in that, the
proposed use permit is consistent with the R-1-S zoning district and the
General Plan because the construction of first story additions and interior
alterations to an existing nonconforming one-story, single-family residence
are allowed  to allowed to exceed 75 percent of the replacement value of the
existing structure subject to granting of a use permit and provided that the
proposed additions conformto applicable zoning standards, including, but
not limited to, minimum setbacks (note: only the new portions of the

A2



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

3 

residence would comply with setbacks), maximum floor area limit, and 
maximum building coverage.  

b. The proposed residence would include the required number of off-street 
parking spaces because one covered and one uncovered parking space 
would be required at a minimum, and two covered parking spaces are 
provided. 

c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and 
ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission 
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, and 
welfare of the surrounding community as the residence is an existing building 
located in a single-family neighborhood and additions would be designed  to 
comply with the requirements of the R-1-S district.  

 
Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit 
No. PLN2022-00056, which Use Permit is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
this reference as Exhibit A and B, respectively. The Use Permit is conditioned in 
conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference 
as Exhibit C.   
 
Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed 
and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
A. The Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant to Cal. 

Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New Construction or Conversion 
of Small Structures). 

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison of the City of 
Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution 
was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on 
March 27, 2023, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:   

A3



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

4 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said 
City on this 27th day of March, 2023. 

______________________________ 
Corinna Sandmeier 
Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison 
City of Menlo Park 

Exhibits 
A. Project Plans
B. Project Description Letter
C. Conditions of Approval

A4



A-0

FRONT ELEVATION,
PROJECT DATA
SHEET INDEX,
VICINITY MAP &
STREETSCAPE

KATE & JONATHAN
MARTIN

RESIDENCE

1145 HIDDEN OAKS DRIVE
MENLO PARK, CA 94025

EXHIBIT A

A5



AREA PLAN

HIDDEN OAKS DRIVE

NORTH LEMON AVE

AVERAGE LOT DEPTH CALCULATION

A-0.1

AREA PLAN &
AVERAGE LOT
DEPTH
CALCULATION

A6



A-1.1

(N) SITE DEMO &
TREE PROTECTION
PLAN

A7



A-1.2

(N)SITE PLAN

A8



A-1.3

EXISTING FLOOR
PLAN

A9



A-1.4

EXISTING ROOF
PLAN

A10



A-1.5

EXISTING
ELEVATIONS

A11



A-1.6

EXISTING FLOOR
AREA DIAGRAM
AND AREA
CALCULATIONS

A12



A-1.7

NON-CONFORMING
STRUCTURE - NEW
WORK
CALCULATION
AREA DIAGRAMS

A13



A-1.8

NON-CONFORMING
STRUCTURE - NEW
WORK
CALCULATION
AREA DIAGRAMS

A14



A-1.9

DEMOLITION
FLOOR PLAN

A15



A-2

(N)FLOOR PLAN

A16



A-3

(N) ROOF PLAN

A17



A-4

(N) FRONT
ELEVATION & (N)
RIGHT  SIDE
ELEVATION

A18



A-5

(N) REAR
ELEVATION & (N)
LEFT SIDE
ELEVATION

A19



A-6

SECTION A-A &
SECTION B-B

A20



A21



A22



A23



A24



A25



A26



A27



A28



A29



A30



A31



PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

New Addition and Interior Remodel for Kate & Jonathan Martin 
1145 Hidden Oaks Drive 
Menlo Park, CA 
APN # 071-021-210 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting approval for a new addition and interior remodel of an existing non-
conforming single-story residence which will exceed the 75% Valuation.  The existing residence 
is non-conforming with respect to the 9.63 foot left side setback, where the minimum required 
setback is 10 feet and an existing front setback of 24.63 feet where the calculated minimum 
required front setback is 33.63 feet. 

ANALYSIS  

Site Location 

The project site is a 10,038 square foot “pie shaped” lot with a front setback calculated at 33.63 
feet at the minimum lot width of 80 feet and a  calculated average depth of 112.6 feet located 
at a cul-de-sac at 1145 Hidden Oaks Drive, Menlo Park CA 94025 in the R-1-S Zoning district. 

Project Description 

The applicant is proposing single story additions to the front and right side of the existing 
2,580.7 square foot single story residence, the additions along with converting partial area of 
the existing garage to habitable space brings the new total floor area to 3,453.2 square feet, 
which is less than the allowable FAL of 3,559.5 s.f.  

The proposed building coverage will increase from (2,674.9 s.f.) or 26.6% to (3,572.9 s.f.)or 
35.6%, which is less than the calculated allowable building coverage of (3,573.5 s.f.) or 35.6%. 

The proposed Front, Side and Rear setbacks will not increase from the existing residence. 

The proposed height of the residence will be 17.16 feet, below the maximum allowable height 
of 28 feet.  The proposed structure is within the daylight plane requirements, except for the 
non-conforming structure’s exterior wall & existing gable roof on the left side of the property. 
Portions of the existing roof will be re-framed except for the roof framing at the garage, and the 
existing gable roof along the left side of the residence which will remain existing. 

Design and Materials 

EXHIBIT B

A32



 
The proposed residence is designed within the subgroup of Styled Ranch borrowing from 
Neoclassical architectural elements. It will have a covered front porch with painted wood 
classical columns,  painted wood paneling & rustic stone veneer @ porch steps.  Typical of this 
style it will have a low slope 4:12 asphalt shingle roof with painted metal K-style gutters.  The 
facia boards will be painted wood along with painted wood soffits and painted wood cornice/ 
crown molding and frieze panels.  The exterior will have painted wood bevel siding with painted 
wood panel accents at box-out windows. The garage will have a barn style painted wood garage 
door with lites at the top of each divided panel. 

All the windows will be aluminum clad exterior with painted wood interiors and will be 
simulated true divided lights.  The windows and doors will have painted wood casings with 
decorative cornice molding. 

The plate height of the exterior walls will be 8’-0” high at existing walls to remain and 9’-0” at 
new walls, still in keeping with the scale of the surrounding houses. 

Site & Landscape Design 

The site is one of five pie shaped lots located at a circular cul-de-sac at the end of Hidden Oaks 
Drive with a very prominent Oak Tree at the center. The existing house sits center on the lot 
facing the center of the circular cul-de-sac.  The new additions are designed to complement the 
existing house and best utilize the enjoyment of the site and be in harmony with the 
neighboring properties with respect to front setback, front entry, garage location and to 
preserve scale of the neighborhood.  

Neighborhood Outreach 

The owners have been in contact with their neighbors and showed them their proposed design 
for the new residence, here are responses from some of them, overall, very positive. 

 

Liz and Eric Bliss at 150 Hidden Oaks Drive. 

From: elizabeth bliss  
Date: Thu, Jan 12, 2023 at 10:31 AM 
Subject: Re: Proposed Remodel of 1145 Hidden Oaks 
To: Kate Martin  

We are thrilled for you guys! Thanks for sharing your plans.  

Lisa and Paul Anderson at 1135 Hidden Oaks Drive. 

A33



From: Lisa Anderson  
Date: Thu, Jan 12, 2023 at 10:35 AM 
Subject: Re: Proposed Remodel of 1145 Hidden Oaks 
To: Kate Martin  
Cc: Jonathan Martin  

Hi Kate, 

Thank you for sending us the plans. Good luck with your project. 

-Lisa and Paul Anderson

Ron and Sherry Dumont at 1190 North Lemon Avenue 

From: Ron Dumont 

Date: Sat, Jan 14, 2023 at 3:05 PM 

Subject: Re: Proposed Remodel 

To: Kate Martin 

CC: Jonathan Martin 

Thanks for sharing your plans with us. Best wishes on the project. 

A34



1145 Hidden Oaks Drive – Attachment A, Exhibit C: Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 1145 
Hidden Oaks Drive 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2022-00056 

APPLICANT: Gary 
McClure 

OWNER: Kate Martin 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the date of
approval (by March 27, 2024) for the use permit to remain in effect.

2. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans prepared by J
Maliksi & Assoc. consisting of 26 plan sheets, dated received February 14, 2023 and approved
by the Planning Commission on March 27, 2023, except as modified by the conditions
contained herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.

3. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District, Menlo
Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly applicable to
the project.

4. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly applicable
to the project.

5. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and Building
Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that cannot be placed
underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan shall show exact locations of
all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers, junction boxes, relay boxes, and other
equipment boxes.

6. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant shall
submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged and
significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted for review
and approval of the Engineering Division.

7. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant shall
submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering Division. The
Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of grading, demolition or
building permits.

8. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to the
Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by Heartwood Consulting Arborists,
dated May 5, 2022.

9. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff time
spent reviewing the application.

10. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo Park
or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against the City of
Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval
of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development Director, or any other
department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a development, variance, permit, or
land use approval which action is brought within the time period provided for in any applicable
statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and
hold harmless shall be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any
said claim, action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

11. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, or
other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of approval of this
development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day protest period has begun as
of the date of the approval of this application.

EXHIBIT C

A35



City of Menlo Park

1145 HIDDEN OAKS DRIVE
Location Map

Date: 3/22/2023 Drawn By:4,000 FNK Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



1145 Hidden Oaks 
 Drive – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 10,038.0 sf 10,038.0 sf 10,000 sf min. 
Lot width 80.0 ft. 80.0  ft. 80 ft. min. 
Lot depth 112.6 ft. 112.6  ft. 100 ft. min. 
Setbacks 

Front 24.4 ft. 24.4 ft. 33.6 ft. min. 
Sub-
division 
Ordinance 

Rear 20.6 ft. 20.6 ft. 20 ft. min. 
Side (left) 9.6 ft. 9.6 ft. 10 ft. min 

Side (right) 10.1 ft. 10.1 ft. 10 ft. min. 

Building coverage 3,572.9 
35.6 

 sf 
% 

2,674.9 
26.6 

sf 
% 

4,015.2 
40 

sf max. 
% max. 

FAL (Floor Area Limit) 3,453.2 sf 2,580.7 sf 3559.5 sf max. 
Square footage by floor 3,042.8 

410.4 
31.8 
87.9 

sf-1st 
sf-garage 
sf-fireplaces 
sf-entry porch 

2.090.2 
490.5 

31.8 
62.4 

sf-1st 
sf-garage 
sf-fireplaces 
sf-entry porch 

Square footage of buildings 3,572.9 Sf 2,674.9 sf 
Building height 17.5 ft. 15.3 ft. 28 ft. max. 
Parking 2 covered spaces 2 covered spaces 1 covered 

space/1 uncovered 
space  

Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation 

Trees Heritage trees 8* Non-Heritage trees 10 New trees 0 

Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

0 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

3 Total Number of 
trees  

15 

*Seven are located on neighboring properties, and one is a street tree.

ATTACHMENT C

C1



Arborist’s Report 

1145 Hidden Oaks Drive 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Prepared for: 

Kate and Jonathan Martin 

April 21, 2022 

Prepared by: 

San Francisco, CA 
650.542.8733 

ASCA - Registered Consulting Arborist ® #651 
ISA - Certified Arborist® MA-4851A 

ATTACHMENT D

D1



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022     

 

  

 

 
  HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
 2 of 15 

 

 
 

 

Contents 
Summary ............................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Background and Assignment ............................................................................................................................. 3 

Limits of Assignment ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Observations ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Description of Site .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Proposed Development Activities .................................................................................................................. 4 

Tree Inventory ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Discussion .......................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Tree Protection Zone ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

Critical Root Zone .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Impact Level from Construction .................................................................................................................... 5 

Conclusion .......................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Recommendations .............................................................................................................................................. 6 

Appendix A: Tree Map and Tree Assessment Table ......................................................................................... 7 

Appendix B: Tree Protection Zone Schematics ................................................................................................. 9 

Appendix C: Tree Protection Guidelines ......................................................................................................... 10 

Appendix D: Sample Tree Protection Signs .................................................................................................... 13 

QUALIFICATIONS, ASSUMPTIONS, & LIMITING CONDITIONS ......................................................... 14 

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE ....................................................................................................... 15 
 

D2



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022     

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

3 of 15 

Summary 

A remodel is proposed which entails an increase to the building footprint at the front and side of 
the home. There are six (6) Heritage trees in the vicinity of the proposed construction. Only two of 
the Heritage Trees will require tree protection fencing. The other trees are sufficiently protected by 
existing property line fencing. The impact level rating for all trees to be preserved is low. 

Background and Assignment 

In advance of proposed development, the client asked me to assess the site, trees, and available 
conceptual plans and provide a report with my findings and recommendations to help satisfy the City 
of Menlo Park requirements. Specifically, my assignment was as follows: 

1. Visit site to assess tree species, condition, trunk diameter, protection status, and retention
status, and appraised value of all Protected Trees.

2. Review site plan and assess potential impacts of construction on trees.
3. Present tree preservation measures for minimizing impacts to trees.
4. Detail all of the above in an Arborist's Report for submission to the City.

Limits of Assignment 

• The information in this report is limited to the tree and site conditions during my inspection on
April 16, 2022. No tree risk assessments were performed.

• Trunk diameters of neighbor trees are estimates.
• The plans reviewed for this assignment were as follows:

• Boundary & Topographic Survey by Lea & Braze Engineering, Inc. (1/31/22)
• Site Plan A1.0 by J Malinski & Assoc. (undated)

D3



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022     

 

  

 

 
  HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
 4 of 15 

 

 
 

Observations 
 
Description of Site 
The site is a residential parcel with a one-story home on it.  

 
 
Proposed Development Activities 

• Remodel that includes modest additions to front and side of home.  
 

 
Tree Inventory 
The inventory consists of eight (8) trees. Six (6) trees are ‘Heritage’ in Menlo Park. None of the 
Heritage Trees are on the project site. All are on adjacent properties. 

 
Valley oak Tree #1 is presumed to be a Street Tree. It is in a planter island in the center of the cul-de-
sac turnaround. 

 
See Tree Map and Tree Assessment Table (Appendix A). 

 
  

D4



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022     

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

5 of 15 

Discussion 

Tree Protection Zone 
The tree protection zone (TPZ) is the defined area in which certain activities are prohibited to 
minimize potential injury to the tree. For this project, fenced TPZs are only necessary for Trees 2 
and 4. The other Protected Trees are on neighboring properties and have sufficient protection from 
the existing property line fences. 

See Appendix C for guidance about work that must take place within the boundaries of a Tree 
Protection Zone. 

Critical Root Zone 
The critical root zone is the area of soil around the trunk of a tree where roots are located that provide 
stability and uptake of water and nutrients required for the tree’s survival. The CRZ is the minimum 
distance from the trunk that trenching, or root cutting can occur, and will be defined by the trunk 
diameter as a distance of three times the trunk diameter in feet (Costello, L., Watson, G., Smiley, E. 
2017). For example, if a tree is two feet in diameter, the minimum CRZ distance would be six feet 
from the trunk on one side of the tree. 

The tree protection zones for Trees 2 and 4 prevent soil disturbance within 3 times the trunk 
diameter of each of the trees. This is the maximum buffer that is possible given the proximity of 
construction to the two trees. 

Impact Level from Construction 
Impact level defines how a tree may be affected by construction activity and proximity to the tree, 
and is described as low, moderate, or high. The following scale defines the impact rating: 

• Low = The construction activity will have little influence on the tree.
• Moderate = The construction may cause future health or structural problems, and steps

must be taken to protect the tree to reduce future problems.
• High = Tree structure and health will be compromised and removal is recommended, or

other actions must be taken for the tree to remain. The tree is located in the building
envelope.

All Protected Trees on the project site have an impact rating of low. 

The complete impact level ratings are listed in The Tree Assessment Table (Appendix A). 

D5



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022     

 

  

 

 
  HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
 6 of 15 

 

 
Conclusion 

 
There are six (6) Heritage trees in the vicinity of the proposed construction. Only two of the 
Heritage Trees will require tree protection fencing. The other trees are sufficiently protected by 
existing property line fencing. The impact level rating for all trees to be preserved is low. 
 
 

Recommendations 
 

 
1. Place tree numbers and tree protection fence locations and guidelines in the plan set. 

 
2. Install tree protection fence per schematics in Appendix B. Refer to details for Type 1 Tree 

Protection Fence (Appendix C). 
 

3. Provide a copy of this report to all contractors and project managers, including the architect, 
civil engineer, and landscape designer or architect. It is the responsibility of the owner to 
ensure all parties are familiar with this document. 

 
4. Arrange a pre-construction meeting with the project arborist or landscape architect to 

verify tree protection is in place, with the correct materials, and at the proper 
distances. 

D6



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022     

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

7 of 15 

Appendix A: Tree Map and Tree Assessment Table 

 Tree Map 

D7



1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022 
     

 

  

 

 
  HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
 8 of 15 

 

  
Tree Assessment Table 

 

Tree 
# Species 

Trunk 
Dia. (in.) 

Overall 
Cond. 

Protection 
Status 

Suitability 
for 
Preservation Disposition 

Impact 
Level Comments Appraised Value 

1 

Valley oak 
Quercus lobata 
Quercus douglasii 41 Fair Heritage High Preserve Low 

Located in median 
island  $              51,100  

2 

Coast redwood 
Sequoia 
sempervirens 36 Fair Heritage High Preserve Low Neighbor tree  $                7,300  

3 
Coast live oak 
Quercus agrifolia 36 Good Heritage High Preserve Low Neighbor tree  $              19,300  

4 
Coast live oak 
Quercus agrifolia 12 Good Heritage High Preserve Low Neighbor tree  $                2,140  

5 
Coast live oak 
Quercus agrifolia 30 Good Heritage High Preserve Low Neighbor tree  $              13,400  

6 
Pittosporum 
Pittosporum sp. 6 Poor None Low Preserve Low   NA  

7 
Pittosporum 
Pittosporum sp. 7 Poor None Low Preserve Low   NA  

8 

Coast redwood 
Sequoia 
sempervirens 12 Good Heritage High Preserve Low Neighbor tree  $                   980  

 
 

D8



                    1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022 

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

9 of 15 

Appendix B: Tree Protection Zone Schematics 

Trees 2 and 4 

Trees #2 and 4 must be fenced with Type 1 Tree Protection Fence, as described in Appendix C: Tree 
Protection Guidelines. 

The other Protected Trees are on neighboring properties and have sufficient protection from the existing 
property line fences. 

D9



                                                       
    

1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022  

 

  

 

 
  HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
 10 of 15 

 

 

Appendix C: Tree Protection Guidelines 
 

Plan Sheet Detail (Type 1 Tree Protection Fence) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D10



                                                       
    

1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022  

 
 

 

 

 
HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
11 of 15 

 

 

Plan Sheet Detail (Trunk Wrap) 
 

 
 
Pre-Construction Meeting with the Project Arborist 

Tree protection locations should be marked before any fencing contractor arrives. 

 
Tree Protection Zones and Fence Specifications 

Tree protection fence should be established prior to the arrival of construction equipment or materials on 
site. Fence should be comprised of six-foot high chain link fence mounted on eight- foot tall, 1 7/8-inch 
diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into the ground and spaced no more than 10 feet apart. Once 
established, the fence must remain undisturbed and be maintained throughout the construction process 
until final inspection. 

The fence should be maintained throughout the site during the construction period and should be inspected 
periodically for damage and proper functions. Fence should be repaired, as necessary, to provide a 
physical barrier from construction activities. 
 
Monitoring 

Any trenching, construction or demolition that is expected to damage or encounter tree roots should 
be monitored by the project arborist or a qualified ISA Certified Arborist and should be 
documented. 

The site should be evaluated by the project arborist or a qualified ISA Certified Arborist after 
construction is complete, and any necessary remedial work that needs to be performed should be noted. 

D11



                                                       
    

1145 Hidden Oaks Dr                    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022  

 
 

 

 

 
HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 

650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
12 of 15 

 

 
Restrictions Within the Tree Protection Zone 

No storage of construction materials, debris, or excess soil will be allowed within the Tree Protection 
Zone. Spoils from the trenching shall not be placed within the tree protection zone either temporarily or 
permanently. Construction personnel and equipment shall be routed outside the tree protection zones. 

 
Root Pruning 

When roots over two inches in diameter are encountered they should be pruned by hand with loppers, 
handsaw, reciprocating saw, or chain saw rather than left crushed or torn. When completed, exposed 
roots should be kept moist with burlap or backfilled within one hour.Boring or Tunneling 

Boring machines should be set up outside the drip line or established Tree Protection Zone. Boring 
may also be performed by digging a trench on both sides of the tree until roots one inch in diameter 
are encountered and then hand dug or excavated with an Air Spade® or similar air or water 
excavation tool. Bore holes should be adjacent to the trunk and never go directly under the main stem 
to avoid oblique (heart) roots.  Bore holes should be a minimum of three feet deep. 

 
Timing 

If the construction is to occur during the summer months supplemental watering and treatments should 
be applied to help ensure survival during and after construction. 

 
Tree Pruning and Removal Operations 

All tree pruning or removals should be performed by a qualified arborist with a C-61/D-49 California 
Contractors License. Tree pruning should be specified in writing according to ANSI A-300A pruning 
standards and limitations and adhere to ANSI Z133.1 safety standards. Trees that need to be removed 
or pruned should be identified in the pre-construction walk through. 

 
Tree Protection Signs 

All sections of fencing should be clearly marked with signs stating that all areas within the fencing are 
Tree Protection Zones and that disturbance is prohibited. Text on the signs should be in both English 
and Spanish (Appendix D). 

 
  

D12



                    1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022 

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

13 of 15 

Appendix D: Sample Tree Protection Signs 

Laminated warning signs, minimum size 8.5” x 11”, stating that all areas within 
the fencing are Tree Protection Zones and that disturbance is prohibited, are to 

be attached to TPZ fencing. 

Signs should be spaced no more than 10 feet apart. 

Text on the signs should be in both English and Spanish. 

D13



                    1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022 

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

14 of 15 

QUALIFICATIONS, ASSUMPTIONS, & LIMITING CONDITIONS 

Any legal description provided to the consultant is assumed to be correct. Any titles or 
ownership of properties are assumed to be good and marketable. All property is appraised 
or evaluated as though free and clear, under responsible ownership and competent 
management. 

All property is presumed to be in conformance with applicable codes, ordinances, 
statutes, or other regulations. 

Care has been taken to obtain information from reliable sources. However, the consultant 
cannot be responsible for the accuracy of information provided by others. 

The consultant shall not be required to give testimony or attend meetings, hearings, 
conferences, mediations, arbitration, or trials by reason of this report unless subsequent 
contractual arrangements are made, including payment of an additional fee for such 
services. 

This report and any appraisal value expressed herein represent the opinion of the consultant, 
and the consultant’s fee is not contingent upon the reporting of a specified appraisal value, a 
stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event. 

Sketches, drawings, and photographs in this report are intended for use as visual aids, are not 
necessarily to scale, and should not be construed as engineering or architectural reports or 
surveys. The reproduction of information generated by architects, engineers, or other 
consultants on any sketches, drawings, or photographs is only for coordination and ease of 
reference. 
Inclusion of said information with any drawings or other documents does not 
constitute a representation as to the sufficiency or accuracy of said information. 

Unless otherwise expressed: a) this report covers only examined items and their condition at 
the time of inspection; and b) the inspection is limited to visual examination of accessible 
items without dissection, excavation, probing, or coring. There is no warranty or guarantee, 
expressed or implied, that structural problems or deficiencies of plants or property may not 
arise in the future. 

D14



                    1145 Hidden Oaks Dr    Arborist’s Report 5 May 2022 

HEARTWOOD CONSULTING ARBORISTS 
650.542.8733 – matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

15 of 15 

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE 

I, Matthew Fried, certify: 

▪ That I have personally inspected the tree(s) and/or the property referred to in
this report and have stated my findings accurately. The extent of the evaluation
and appraisal is stated in the attached report and the Terms of Assignment;

▪ That I have no current or prospective interest in the vegetation or the property
that is the subject of this report and have no personal interest or bias with
respect to the parties involved;

▪ That the analysis, opinions, and conclusions stated herein are my own;

▪ That my analysis, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report
has been prepared according to commonly accepted arboricultural practices;

▪ That no one provided significant professional assistance to the consultant,
except as indicated within the report;

▪ That my compensation is not contingent upon the reporting of a
predetermined conclusion that favors the cause of the client or any other
party.

I further certify that I am Registered Consulting Arborist® #651 with the American Society of 
Consulting Arborists, and acknowledge, accept, and adhere to the ASCA Standards of 
Professional Practice. I am an International Society of Arboriculture Certified Arborist and 
have been involved in the practice of arboriculture and the study of trees for over twelve years. 

Matthew Fried 
Matthew Fried  
ASCA Registered Consulting Arborist® # 651 
ISA Certified Arborist® MA-4851A  
ISA Tree Risk Assessor Qualified 

D15


	20230327 PC Agenda
	E1_20221205 PC Draft Minutes
	E2_120 Constitution Dr staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter
	Exhibit C - Conditions of Approval

	ATT B - Location Map

	F1_100 Terminal Ave staff report
	ATT A - Resolution - 100 Terminal
	Exhibit A - Project plan
	Exhibit B - Project description letter

	ATT B - Location Map

	F2_1145 Hidden Oaks staff report
	F2_1145 Hidden Oaks staff report
	ATT A - Draft Resolution of Approval
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter
	Exhibit C - Conditions of Approval

	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table
	ATT D - Arborist Report




